The Role of Whole Brain Radiation Therapy for Metastatic Brain Tumors

Melvin Omodon and Steven Kalkanis

Contents

Abstract	183
Introduction	183
The Role of Surgery Combined with WBRT	184
WBRT Dosing	185
Whole Brain Radiation Therapy	
Combined with Other Therapies	186
Role of WBRT and SRS	186
WBRT Plus SRS Versus SRS Alone	186
Role of Sensitizers	187
WBRT and Chemotherapy	187
WBRT Treatment Outcome by Histopathology	187
Discussion	187
References	188

Abstract

Whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) has long served as an important treatment modality for patients diagnosed with metastatic brain tumors, both alone and in combination with other therapies including surgical resection. The recently published multidisciplinary treatment guideline by Gaspar and Kalkanis for brain metastases evaluates the evidence for the continued use of WBRT, with recommendations for specific clinical scenarios. We will address the subject of the role of WBRT in brain metastases throughout this chapter.

Introduction

Approximately 1.4 million people in the US are diagnosed with cancer every year according to the American Cancer Society. About 20-40 % of cancer patients will go on to develop brain metastases. The incidence of these secondary brain tumors is about four to five times that of primary brain tumors (American Cancer Society 2006; Gavrilovic and Posner 2005; Linskey and Kalkanis 2010). The mode of spread is primarily hematogenous with local extension also possible. In 11 % of patients with no known cancer history, cerebral metastasis was the presenting symptom (Voorhies et al. 1980). The most common primary sites for brain metastases are lungs and breast. 85 % of brain metastases are found in the cerebral hemispheres, 10-15 % in the cerebellum and 1-3 % in the brainstem.

16

M. Omodon • S. Kalkanis (⊠) Department of Neurosurgery, Henry Ford Center for Cancer Surgery, 2799 West Grand Blvd., 48202 Detroit, MI, USA e-mail: skalkan1@hfhs.org

Typically the signs and symptoms of brain metastasis are usually slowly progressive. These include headache, focal weakness, mental disturbances, gait ataxia, seizures, speech difficulty, visual disturbance, sensory disturbance and limb ataxia.

Whole brain radiation therapy (WBRT) typically had been the mainstay for treatment for metastatic brain tumor until the 1990s when surgical resection and stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) became more popular. WBRT has been shown to prolong survival to about 3-6 months compared to the 1-2 months in patients who did not receive any treatment (Patchell et al. 1998; Kondziolka et al. 1999). In 1954, Chao et al. (1954) showed that WBRT increased the median survival of patients with metastatic brain tumors by up to 3–6 months. Other studies (Posner 1977; Zimm et al. 1981) have shown similar improvement in overall survival in these patients. Response rate to WBRT ranges from 50 % to 85 % (Katz 1981).

Tumors that are more sensitive to WBRT are small cell lung ca, germ cell tumors, lymphoma, leukemia, multiple myeloma (Patchell et al. 1990). Highly resistant tumors are thyroid, renal cell, malignant melanoma, sarcoma, adenocarcinoma (Nieder et al. 1997). Patients with metastatic brain tumors who are candidates for WBRT usually receive steroids to decrease the peritumoral edema and WBRT over the course of 2 weeks. Mortality from metastatic brain tumors is mostly due to complications of extracranial tumor activity.

The Role of Surgery Combined with WBRT

Guidelines pertaining to the role of surgery combined with WBRT have been published (Gaspar et al. 2010). Class I evidence supports combined treatment with surgical resection plus postoperative WBRT, compared to WBRT alone or surgical resection alone, in patients who are functionally independent, who spend less than 50 % of time in bed and who have limited extra-cranial disease. There is no unified recommendation for patients with poor performance scores, advanced systemic disease, or multiple brain metastases.

The randomized control trial by Patchell et al. (1998) involved 48 patients with systemic cancer, evidence of single metastasis to the brain and Karnofsky performance scores (KPS) of 70 or greater who had received either needle biopsy and WBRT (radiation group), or complete surgical resection and WBRT (surgical group). Both groups received the same total radiation dose of 36 Gy given in 12 daily fractions of 3 Gy each. Patients with acute neurologic deterioration and radiosensitive tumors (SCLC, germ-cell, lymphoma, leukemia and multiple myeloma) were excluded. Patients in the surgical group were reported to have had complete resection verified by postoperative computerized tomography (CT) scanning. Compared to the radiation group, the surgical group had an increase in the overall length of survival (median 40 weeks vs. 15 weeks; P<0.01), increased duration of functional independence and quality of life, and decreased frequency of recurrence of the original tumor. There was no extra mortality noted in the surgical group.

A multi-centered trial in the Netherlands of patients who had a single brain metastasis randomized 63 patients into surgical resection and WBRT versus WBRT alone (Vecht et al. 1993). Patients in this study were generally ambulatory and did not require continuous nursing care. Patients who received the combined treatment had significantly longer median survivals (10 vs. 6 months) and longer functional independent survival (7.5 vs. 3.5 months). There was no difference in the median survival (5 months) between treatment regimens in patients with poorly controlled systemic disease. The study showed that this benefit was only seen in patients less than 60 years old and without progressive systemic disease who were within 3 months of diagnosis. Three patients were excluded from analysis. Two patients were lost to follow up.

A RCT by Mintz and Cairncross (1998) on 84 patients with a single brain metastasis was published in 1996. Forty-three patients were allocated to undergo radiation alone and 41 patients received surgery plus radiation. The authors concluded that combined surgery and WBRT is as efficacious as WBRT alone in terms of overall survival, or quality of life. Patients were excluded if they had leukemia, lymphoma, or SCLC.

There have been possible explanations put forth to suggest why the data from this study is different from the other two studies. Most of the patients in this study had either uncontrolled primary or extracranial metastasis which is a relative contraindication to surgery. Also since most of the neurosurgically treated patients died of progression of systemic disease it is likely that there will be difference in outcomes because progressive disease has the same median survival (5 months) irrespective of combined surgery and WBRT versus WBRT alone. Also of note, this trial included patients less than 80 years old and with Karnofsky scores (KPS) of at least 50. This differs from the previous trials in that these patients could spend greater than 50 % of their day in bed. Another reason for this difference could be the lack of mandatory MRI scans in patients included in the study giving rise to the possibility that additional lesions were not seen in pre operative CT scans.

Ampil et al. (1996) retrospectively studied 45 patients at a single institution who had cerebellar metastasis and who received either surgery plus WBRT (11 patients) or WBRT alone (34 patients). Most of the patients who received WBRT alone had additional supratentorial brain metastases. The authors found that patients who received combined treatment had a median survival of 15 months compared to 3 months for patients who received WBRT alone. They concluded that the outcome of patients with metastasis to the cerebellum was significantly improved when the metastatic lesion was resected and when its origin was not from the lung.

WBRT Dosing

Radiation dosages are expressed as tumor response biologically effective dose (BED) to account for total dose of radiation, fraction size, overall time to deliver the radiation, and presumed repair of irradiated tissue. This is calculated with equation: $BED = nd[1+d/(\alpha / \beta)]$ where n=number of treatments, d=dose per fraction; and $\alpha/\beta=10$ Gy for tumor effects of each schedule. The standard WBRT dose is 30 Gy in 10 fractions given over 2 weeks (Gaspar et al. 2010).

In an effort to increase the duration of overall survival and to improve the morbidity from WBRT several randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were conducted to identify the optimal dose of radiation. There is no additional benefit in overall survival, neurologic function or symptom control with altered dose-fractionation schedules compared to the standard (Gaspar et al. 2010; Kalkanis et al. 2010).

In two RCTs by Borgelt et al. (1980), patients were randomly selected to receive one of five WBRT schedules that ranged from 40 Gy for a 4 week duration to 20 Gy for a 1 week duration. The following year, Borgelt et al. (1981) conducted two RCTs where patients were treated with 10 Gy in 1 fraction versus 30–40 Gy in 10–20 fractions, and also 12 Gy in 2 fractions versus 20 Gy in 5 fractions. The authors concluded that there was no statistically significant difference in the overall median survival of patients who received different radiation schedules.

Other RCTs (Harwood and Simson 1977; Chatani et al. 1994) and a Cochrane review (Tsao et al. 2012) did not find any statistically significant difference in the outcomes of patients who received varying WBRT schedules. Also, no difference in symptom control, or improvement in neurological function was observed in patients who received doses higher than 30 Gy over 10 fractions (Gaspar et al. 2010). Patients who received lower than that dose fared worse (p=0.03) (Tsao et al. 2012). A RCT study conducted in the UK compared 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks versus 12 Gy in 2 fractions on 2 days showed that patients who received 30 Gy in 10 fractions had an improved median survival of 84 days compared to 77 days (p=0.04) (Priestman et al. 1996) with fewer adverse effects.

Whole Brain Radiation Therapy Combined with Other Therapies

Role of WBRT and SRS

A multi-centered RCT (Andrews et al. 2004) by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) compared patients with one to three solid brain metastases, less than 4 cm in maximum diameter, and KPS > 70 who received WBRT (133 patients) and those who received both WBRT and SRS (139 patients). This study found that patients who received both WBRT and SRS had statistically significant longer survival (6.5 vs. 5.7 months, p=0.04), decreased progression of disease (71 % vs. 82 %), and a higher rate of improved KPS (43 % vs. 27 %, p=0.03) compared to patients who received only WBRT.

Another RCT (Kondziolka et al. 1999) randomized patients with two to four brain metastases no more than 25 mm diameter and KPS scores less than 70 to WBRT alone (14 patients) versus WBRT and SRS (13 patients) evaluating for radiological evidence of local tumor control. They found that patients who received both radiation therapies had longer median time to local failure (36 vs. 6 months, p=0.0005), and longer survival (11 vs. 7.5 months) compared to patients with WBRT alone. This study did not report any neurologic or systemic morbidity related to additional stereotactic radiosurgery. Retrospective studies have also shown improved outcomes in patients who received both single dose SRS and WBRT compared to WBRT alone (Li et al. 2000; Sanghavi et al. 2001; Wang et al. 2002).

WBRT Plus SRS Versus SRS Alone

Aoyama et al. (2006) conducted a multicentered RCT of patients in Japan with no more than four metastastic brain lesions each smaller than 3 cm in diameter and KPS>70 to compare especially for overall survival, and also brain tumor recurrence. 65 randomly selected patients received both WBRT and single dose SRS and 67 patients received SRS alone. The SRS dose in the combined group arm was reduced by 30 % compared to the SRS only group. It was noted that there was no statistically significant difference in the median survival time between patients who received WBRT and SRS compared to SRS alone. The combined treatment group had a median survival time of 7.5 months compared to 8.0 months for SRS alone. The 1 year distant brain site recurrence rate was significantly higher in the SRS alone group (76.4 % for SRS vs. 46.8 % in the combined group; p < 0.001). Also the SRS only group was more likely to require salvage brain therapy of either WBRT or SRS (43.3 % vs. 15.4 %).

Chang et al. (2009) found that patients who received combined SRS and WBRT had a more severe decline in learning and memory function compared to the SRS only group. This trial randomized 30 patients with one to three brain metastases to receive SRS alone, and 28 to receive combined SRS and WBRT but was stopped early because it was noted that the combined group were significantly more likely to show a decline in learning and memory function. It was also noted that the combined group patients free of recurrence of distant brain metastasis (73 % compared to 27 %, p=0.0003).

Li et al. (2000) conducted a study to compare WBRT, SRS, and WBRT+SRS in terms of local response, survival, and quality of life in patients with squamous cell and non squamous cell lung cancer with single brain metastases<4.5 cm in diameter and KPS>60. This study found that both SRS alone and SRS+WBRT were statistically better in terms of prolonging life and improving quality of life than WBRT alone. When the combined treatment arm was compared with the SRS only arm, there was no statistically significant advantage in survival, tumor control, or enhance quality of life except for improved freedom from new brain metastasis in the combined arm.

A European trial (Kocher et al. 2011) was conducted to evaluate if patients with brain metastasis who were post-surgery or post-SRS had increased length of functional independence after adjuvant WBRT. The patients included in this study had one to three brain metastases and WHO performance status (PS) of zero to two. Patients who had prior treatment with surgery or SRS were randomized to receive adjuvant WBRT or placebo. There was no difference observed in the overall survival between both groups. WBRT reduced the 2-year relapse rate both at initial metastasis site (surgery: 59-27 %, P<.001; radiosurgery: 31-19 %, P=.040) and at new sites (surgery: 42-23 %, P=.008; radiosurgery: 48-33 %, P=.023). The adjuvant WBRT had reduced relapse rate and less salvage therapies.

Role of Sensitizers

Sensitizers are agents that in conjunction with radiotherapy increase the cytotoxic effects and improve the therapeutic ratio. Motexafin gadolinium is a metallotexaphrin that accumulates within tumors in significantly higher concentration than in normal tissue. Efaproxiral is thought to cause a modification of the 3D structure of hemoglobin decreasing its oxygen binding capacity hence allowing more free oxygen to be available to tumor cells. Increased oxygen is thought to be destructive to the tumors. Several RCTs (Eyre et al. 1984; DeAngelis et al. 1989; Komarnicky et al. 1991; Phillips et al. 1995; Mehta et al. 2003; Suh et al. 2006) investigated outcomes in terms of overall survival, KPS and neurologic function involving the use of radiosensitizers such as motexafin, RSR13 (efaproxiral), lonidamide, metronidazole, misonidazole, gadolinium, and bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU). When used in conjunction with WBRT, these radiosensitizersdid not provide any added survival benefits andin fact, there were increased side effects.

WBRT and Chemotherapy

There have been studies (Eyre et al. 1984; DeAngelis et al. 1989; Komarnicky et al. 1991; Phillips et al. 1995; Postmus et al. 2000; Mehta et al. 2003; Suh et al. 2006) that evaluated outcomes of patients with brain metastasis who had WBRT and chemotherapeutic agents for changes in survival. These studies failed to demonstrate any improvement in median survival duration when chemotherapy was given in addition to WBRT.

WBRT Treatment Outcome by Histopathology

A retrospective study (Sundstrom et al. 1998) evaluated 75 patients with brain metastases from solid tumors, who received 25 Gy WBRT, for differences in outcomes based on histopathology. The primary cancers included 35 cases of lung cancer, 19 cases of breast cancer, 9 cases of renalcell cancer, 6 cases of melanoma and 6 cases of other primary sites. In general, patients with breast cancer had better survival than patients with other primary cancers. There are however no formal recommendations concerning the effectiveness of WBRT for one histopathological type versus another (Kalkanis et al. 2010) due to the low number of studies addressing this topic.

Discussion

Surgical resection plus post-operative WBRT has been shown to produce better outcomes compared to WBRT alone in patients with limited extra-cranial disease and with good functional status. Surgical resection and WBRT also produces better local and distant brain control when compared to surgical resection alone. This recommendation however does not apply to relatively radiosensitive tumors histologies such as small cell lung cancer, leukemia, lymphoma, germ cell tumors and multiple myeloma (Gaspar et al. 2010; Kalkanis et al. 2010). The standard dose/fractionation scheme for WBRT is 30 Gy in 10 fractions. Other doses and fractionation schedules have not shown improved local control, neurocognitive outcomes or median survival.

WBRT combined with single dose SRS results in improved local tumor control, functional status, and longer survival, compared with WBRT alone for patients with one to four metastatic lesions who have KPS scores greater than 70. Single dose SRS with WBRT may be just as efficacious as single dose SRS alone as long as there is regular surveillance for local and distant recurrence so salvage therapy could be initiated promptly. Adjuvant chemotherapy after WBRT has not been shown to increase survival. Radiation sensitizers have not been shown to improve outcomes in patients receiving WBRT. Also due to the relative paucity of data there are no recommendations to be made regarding the efficacy of WBRT for different tumor histology. Further investigation is required for future recommendations.

References

- American Cancer Society (2006) Cancer facts & figures. The Society, Atlanta
- Ampil FL, Nanda A, Willis BK, Nandy I, Meehan R (1996) Metastatic disease in the cerebellum. The LSU experience in 1981–1993. Am J Clin Oncol 19:509–511
- Andrews DW, Scott CB, Sperduto PW, Flanders AE, Gaspar LE, Schell MC, Werner-Wasik M, Demas W, Ryu J, Bahary JP, Souhami L, Rotman M, Mehta MP, Curran WJ Jr (2004) Whole brain radiation therapy with or without stereotactic radiosurgery boost for patients with one to three brain metastases: phase III results of the RTOG 9508 randomised trial. Lancet 363:1665–1672
- Aoyama H, Shirato H, Tago M, Nakagawa K, Toyoda T, Hatano K, Kenjyo M, Oya N, Hirota S, Shioura H, Kunieda E, Inomata T, Hayakawa K, Katoh N, Kobashi G (2006) Stereotactic radiosurgery plus whole-brain radiation therapy vs. stereotactic radiosurgery alone for treatment of brain metastases: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 295:2483–2491
- Borgelt B, Gelber R, Kramer S, Brady LW, Chang CH, Davis LW, Perez CA, Hendrickson FR (1980) The palliation of brain metastases: final results of the first two studies by the radiation therapy oncology group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 6:1–9
- Borgelt B, Gelber R, Larson M, Hendrickson F, Griffin T, Roth R (1981) Ultra-rapid high dose irradiation schedules for the palliation of brain metastases: final results of the first two studies by the radiation therapy oncology group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 7:1633–1638
- Chang EL, Wefel JS, Hess KR, Allen PK, Lang FF, Kornguth DG, Arbuckle RB, Swint JM, Shiu AS, Maor MH, Meyers CA (2009) Neurocognition in patients with brain metastases treated with radiosurgery or radiosurgery plus whole-brain irradiation: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 10:1037–1044
- Chao JH, Phillips R, Nickson JJ (1954) Roentgen-ray therapy of cerebral metastases. Cancer 7:682–689

- Chatani M, Matayoshi Y, Masaki N, Inoue T (1994) Radiation therapy for brain metastases from lung carcinoma. Prospective randomized trial according to the level of lactate dehydrogenase. Strahlenther Onkol 170:155–161
- DeAngelis LM, Currie VE, Kim JH, Krol G, O'Hehir MA, Farag FM, Young CW, Posner JB (1989) The combined use of radiation therapy and lonidamine in the treatment of brain metastases. J Neurooncol 7:241–247
- Eyre HJ, Ohlsen JD, Frank J, LoBuglio AF, McCracken JD, Weatherall TJ, Mansfield CM (1984) Randomized trial of radiotherapy versus radiotherapy plus metronidazole for the treatment metastatic cancer to brain. A southwest oncology group study. J Neurooncol 2:325–330
- Gaspar LE, Mehta MP, Patchell RA, Burri SH, Robinson PD, Morris RE, Ammirati M, Andrews DW, Asher AL, Cobbs CS, Kondziolka D, Linskey ME, Loeffler JS, McDermott M, Mikkelsen T, Olson JJ, Paleologos NA, Ryken TC, Kalkanis SN (2010) The role of whole brain radiation therapy in the management of newly diagnosed brain metastases: a systematic review and evidence-based clinical practice guideline. J Neurooncol 96:17–32
- Gavrilovic IT, Posner JB (2005) Brain metastases: epidemiology and pathophysiology. J Neurooncol 75:5–14
- Harwood AR, Simson WJ (1977) Radiation therapy of cerebral metastases: a randomized prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2:1091–1094
- Kalkanis SN, Kondziolka D, Gaspar LE, Burri SH, Asher AL, Cobbs CS, Ammirati M, Robinson PD, Andrews DW, Loeffler JS, McDermott M, Mehta MP, Mikkelsen T, Olson JJ, Paleologos NA, Patchell RA, Ryken TC, Linskey ME (2010) The role of surgical resection in the management of newly diagnosed brain metastases: a systematic review and evidence-based clinical practice guideline. J Neurooncol 96:33–43
- Katz HR (1981) The relative effectiveness of radiation therapy, corticosteroids, and surgery in the management of melanoma metastatic to the central nervous system. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 7:897–906
- Kocher M, Soffietti R, Abacioglu U, Villa S, Fauchon F, Baumert BG, Fariselli L, Tzuk-Shina T, Kortmann RD, Carrie C, Ben Hassel M, Kouri M, Valeinis E, van den Berge D, Collette S, Collette L, Mueller RP (2011) Adjuvant whole-brain radiotherapy versus observation after radiosurgery or surgical resection of one to three cerebral metastases: results of the EORTC 22952-26001 study. J Clin Oncol 29:134–141
- Komarnicky LT, Phillips TL, Martz K, Asbell S, Isaacson S, Urtasun R (1991) A randomized phase III protocol for the evaluation of misonidazole combined with radiation in the treatment of patients with brain metastases (RTOG-7916). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 20:53–58
- Kondziolka D, Patel A, Lunsford LD, Kassam A, Flickinger JC (1999) Stereotactic radiosurgery plus whole brain radiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for patients with multiple brain metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 45:427–434

- Li B, Yu J, Suntharalingam M, Kennedy AS, Amin PP, Chen Z, Yin R, Guo S, Han T, Wang Y, Yu N, Song G, Wang L (2000) Comparison of three treatment options for single brain metastasis from lung cancer. Int J Cancer 90:37–45
- Linskey ME, Kalkanis SN (2010) Evidence-linked, clinical practice guidelines-getting serious; getting professional. J Neurooncol 96:1–5
- Mehta MP, Rodrigus P, Terhaard CH, Rao A, Suh J, Roa W, Souhami L, Bezjak A, Leibenhaut M, Komaki R, Schultz C, Timmerman R, Curran W, Smith J, Phan SC, Miller RA, Renschler MF (2003) Survival and neurologic outcomes in a randomized trial of motexafin gadolinium and whole-brain radiation therapy in brain metastases. J Clin Oncol 21:2529–2536
- Mintz AP, Cairncross JG (1998) Treatment of a single brain metastasis: the role of radiation following surgical resection. JAMA 280:1527–1529
- Nieder C, Berberich W, Schnabel K (1997) Tumor-related prognostic factors for remission of brain metastases after radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 39:25–30
- Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Walsh JW, Dempsey RJ, Maruyama Y, Kryscio RJ, Markesbery WR, Macdonald JS, Young B (1990) A randomized trial of surgery in the treatment of single metastases to the brain. N Engl J Med 322:494–500
- Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Regine WF, Dempsey RJ, Mohiuddin M, Kryscio RJ, Markesbery WR, Foon KA, Young B (1998) Postoperative radiotherapy in the treatment of single metastases to the brain: a randomized trial. JAMA 280:1485–1489
- Phillips TL, Scott CB, Leibel SA, Rotman M, Weigensberg IJ (1995) Results of a randomized comparison of radiotherapy and bromodeoxyuridine with radiotherapy alone for brain metastases: report of RTOG trial 89-05. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 33:339–348
- Posner JB (1977) Management of central nervous system metastases. Semin Oncol 4:81–91
- Postmus PE, Haaxma-Reiche H, Smit EF, Groen HJ, Karnicka H, Lewinski T, van Meerbeeck J, Clerico M, Gregor A, Curran D, Sahmoud T, Kirkpatrick A, Giaccone G (2000) Treatment of brain metastases of small-cell lung cancer: comparing teniposide and teniposide with whole-brain radiotherapy–a phase III study of the European organization for the research

and treatment of cancer lung cancer cooperative group. J Clin Oncol 18:3400–3408

- Priestman TJ, Dunn J, Brada M, Rampling R, Baker PG (1996) Final results of the royal college of radiologists' trial comparing two different radiotherapy schedules in the treatment of cerebral metastases. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 8:308–315
- Sanghavi SN, Miranpuri SS, Chappell R, Buatti JM, Sneed PK, Suh JH, Regine WF, Weltman E, King VJ, Goetsch SJ, Breneman JC, Sperduto PW, Scott C, Mabanta S, Mehta MP (2001) Radiosurgery for patients with brain metastases: a multi-institutional analysis, stratified by the RTOG recursive partitioning analysis method. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 51:426–434
- Suh JH, Stea B, Nabid A, Kresl JJ, Fortin A, Mercier JP, Senzer N, Chang EL, Boyd AP, Cagnoni PJ, Shaw E (2006) Phase III study of efaproxiral as an adjunct to whole-brain radiation therapy for brain metastases. J Clin Oncol 24:106–114
- Sundstrom JT, Minn H, Lertola KK, Nordman E (1998) Prognosis of patients treated for intracranial metastases with whole-brain irradiation. Ann Med 30:296–299
- Tsao MN, Lloyd N, Wong RK, Chow E, Rakovitch E, Laperriere N, Xu W, Sahgal A (2012) Whole brain radiotherapy for the treatment of newly diagnosed multiple brain metastases. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD003869
- Vecht CJ, Haaxma-Reiche H, Noordijk EM, Padberg GW, Voormolen JH, Hoekstra FH, Tans JT, Lambooij N, Metsaars JA, Wattendorff AR et al (1993) Treatment of single brain metastasis: radiotherapy alone or combined with neurosurgery? Ann Neurol 33:583–590
- Voorhies RM, Sundaresan N, Thaler HT (1980) The single supratentorial lesion. An evaluation of preoperative diagnostic tests. J Neurosurg 53:364–368
- Wang LG, Guo Y, Zhang X, Song SJ, Xia JL, Fan FY, Shi M, Wei LC (2002) Brain metastasis: experience of the Xi-Jing hospital. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 78:70–83
- Zimm S, Wampler GL, Stablein D, Hazra T, Young HF (1981) Intracerebral metastases in solid-tumor patients: natural history and results of treatment. Cancer 48:384–394